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Profile Of Directors
ROSLAN BIN HAMIR
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Malaysian, age 45. He was appointed to the Board on 7 August 2002. On 7 December 2012, he took over the role
of Chairman from Mdm Juliana Manohari Devadason and relinquished his chair on both the Audit Committee and
Remuneration and Nomination Committee to Mdm Lim Hu Fang.
He is an ACCA graduate with Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Accounting and Finance. He was previously with Ernst &
Young Consultants Sdn Bhd in Malaysia as an auditor as well as a management consultant from 1993 until 1998 when
he joined Kumpulan Fima Berhad, as Senior Vice President, Corporate Services. He was appointed to the Board of
Kumpulan Fima Berhad on 11 October 2002 and he is currently the Group Managing Director. He is also the Managing
Director of Fima Corporation Berhad of which he was appointed to the Board on 8 December 1998. Kumpulan Fima
Berhad and Fima Corporation Berhad are companies listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. He is also a Director of
Malaysian Transnational Trading (MATTRA) Corporation Berhad and Fima Bulking Services Berhad
On 25 July 2008, he was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of Riverview Rubber Estates, Berhad
(“RREB”), a company listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad which is a substantial shareholder of the Company in
an exercise to streamline the Boards of both companies. He was redesignated as Chairman of RREB on 7 December
2012. As with all the other Directors of the Company he is subjected to retirement by rotation and re-appointment by
the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting in accordance with Article 36 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
He was subjected to retirement by rotation in the 102nd Annual General Meeting held on 22 June 2012 and was
unanimously re-appointment.
Although he holds cross Directorship in both companies, he is neither related to any Director or major shareholder of
both the companies nor has he entered into any transaction which has a conflict of interest with both companies.

ADRIAN TSEN KENG YAM
Non-Independent Executive Director

Malaysian, aged 63. He was appointed to the Board on 17 March 2006 as an alternate to Mr William John Huntsman. On
25 July 2008, he ceased to be an alternate to Mr William John Huntsman and was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company. He is also Secretary to the Company.
He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, a Chartered Accountant under the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants and a Certified Public Accountant under the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He was a former partner of Arthur Andersen & Co from 1988 to June 2003.
He currently holds a Directorship in Trinity Corporation Berhad (Formerly known as Talam Corporation Berhad), a
company listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
He has been appointed to the Board of Riverview Rubber Estates, Berhad on 26 February 2007.
He is neither related to any Director or major shareholder of the Company nor has entered into any transaction which
has a conflict of interest with the Company.

5

Profile Of Directors

(continued)

JULIANA MANOHARI DEVADASON
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Malaysian, age 63. She was appointed to the Board in 1987 and has been Chairman of the Board since 1 July 1995.
She was also the Chairman of the Board of Riverview Rubber Estates, Berhad, a company listed on Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad in Malaysia. She stepped down from her role as Chairman of both Companies on 7 December 2012
and was replaced by Encik Roslan Bin Hamir an Independent Non-Executive Director. She remains on the Board as a
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director.
She holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in Law and is a Barrister-at-Law, Grays Inn. She was a partner at Maxwell,
Kenion, Cowdy & Jones from 1984 to 2003. She has been in practice as an advocate and solicitor for 28 years.
She is not related to any Director or major shareholder of the Company. She has not entered into any transaction which
has a conflict of interest with the Company.

STEPHEN WILLIAM HUNTSMAN
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Malaysian, age 55. He was appointed to the Board on 1 August 2001 and was redesignated as a Non-Independent NonExecutive Director in July 2007. In July 2008, he was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
and Nomination Committee of the Board.
Mr Huntsman joined Riverview Rubber Estates, Berhad in 1997 as a Manager and was appointed that company’s
Managing Director in August 2001. He was redesignated as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of Riverview
Rubber Estate in July 2007. Prior to his employment with Riverview Rubber Estates, Berhad, he was employed by the
Automobile Association as a Manager from 1986 to 1996 and Plessey Plc as a Manager from 1980 to 1986. He has a
Masters in Business Administration and is an Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Secretaries.
Mr Huntsman has not entered into any transaction which has a conflict of interest with the Company.

LIM HU FANG
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Malaysian, aged 62. She was appointed to the Board on 29 October 2010. She was appointed a Chairman of both the
Audit Committee as well as the Remuneration and Nomination Commitee of the Board on 7 December 2012 in place of
Encik Roslan Bin Hamir.
She is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the Malaysian Institute
of Accountants.
She was appointed to the Board of Riverview Rubber Estates, Berhad, a company listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad in 2002.
She is neither related to any Director or major shareholder of the Company nor has she entered into any transaction
which has a conflict of interest with the Company.
**None of the Directors of Narborough have been convicted of any offences.
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Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholders
This is my first year as Chairman of The Narborough Plantations, Public Limited Company (“the Company “) after
assuming the role previously held by Mdm Juliana Manohari Devadason on 7 December 2012 in compliance with the
UK Corporate Governance Code (“Code”) issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Juliana remains on the Board as a
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and I would like to take this opportunity to thank Juliana for her invaluable
past service as Chairman.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the One Hundred and Third Annual Report and Financial
Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2012
2011
2012
2011
RM
RM
£
£
			
Revenue
7,819,763
9,675,947
1,595,870
1,974,683
					
Cost of sales
(2,304,239)
(2,215,223)
(470,253)
(452,086)
		
Gross profit
5,515,524
7,460,724
1,125,617
1,522,597
				
Gain arising on revaluation of biological assets
553,995
1,217,412
112,415
248,451
				
Share of profit of associate after
tax pre-fair value of the
investment properties and
biological asset adjustment
422,705
900,069
86,266
183,688
Fair value of the investment
properties adjustment
4,796,428
970,937
Deferred tax recognised on the
investment properties
(1,195,208)
(241,945)
Fair value of the biological asset
adjustment
2,481,379
502,303
Deferred tax recognised on the
biological asset
(620,345)
(125,576)
-

Share of operating profit in associate after tax
5,884,959
900,069
1,191,985
183,688
					
Profit before tax
10,836,061
9,070,492
2,201,484
1,851,163
							
Earnings per share
71.86 sen
52.31 sen
14.59 pence
10.68 pence
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Chairman’s Statement

(continued)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)
It has been an exciting year for the Company with the commencement of major replanting to replace trees that are over
25 years old, the completion of newly refurbished staffs’ quarters and site office. 94.3 Hectares (Ha) has been replanted
as at the end of 2012 and another 43.77 Ha is scheduled for felling and replanting in 2013. Field workers’ quarters
refurbishment will also begin in 2013.
I am pleased to report that although with a reduction in production capacity to an average of 490.67 Ha due to the
replanting, the remaining fields still managed to produce a total of 13,029.61 Metric Tonnes (MT) ie. a yield of 26.55
MT per Ha for the year ended 31 December 2012 as compared to 13,974.46 MT at 541.80 Ha ie. a yield of 25.79 MT
per Ha for the year ended 31 December 2011. The improvement in yields is mainly due to favourable weather and
improvement in management of the fields.
The Company will be facing challenging times ahead with fluctuating Crude Palm Oil (“CPO”) prices, uncertain weather
patterns and rising cost of production from increases in labour cost and fertiliser prices. Malaysia has implemented
minimum wage of RM900.00 (£182.19) per month per employee beginning from 1 January 2013. However, this change
has minimal effect on the Company’s staff cost as most of its employees are already earning beyond this amount.
CPO was traded widely during 2012 with an average high of RM3,480.50 per MT in April and low of RM2,052.00 per
MT in December 2012. This is fundamentally due to the rising palm oil stocks, increasing production and slower global
economic growth.
The detrimental elements as mentioned has reduced the average price of Fresh Fruit Bunches (“FFB”) by 13.32% for the
current year ended 31 December 2012 to RM600.15 per MT from RM692.40 per MT of the previous year. The price of
FFB was the lowest in December 2012 at RM417.32 per MT as compared to RM642.49 per MT of the same month in the
previous year. As such the Company’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2012 has been reduced to RM7,819,763
(£1,595,870) from RM9,675,947 (£1,974,683) for the year ended 31 December 2011. A graphical presentation of the
movement of the Company’s 5 year yield per hectare and average price of FFB realised is shown below.
Graph - 5 Year Yield Per Hectare and Average Fresh Fruit Bunches Price Realised

THE NARBOROUGH PLANTATIONS, PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
5 YEAR YIELD PER HECTARE AND AVERAGE PRICE REALISED
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Chairman’s Statement

(continued)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)
Fundamental Ratios				
31-Dec-12

31-Dec-11

31-Dec-10

31-Dec-09

31-Dec-08

5.62

7.50

12.70

8.30

12.80

37.00%

77.00%

32.00%

-10.00%

-49.00%

5.84

5.34

3.36

3.26

4.22

Operating Margin

58.78%

81.27%

55.14%

58.38%

56.97%

Return on Capital Employed

10.13%

15.52%

9.35%

8.14%

8.99%

2.50%

2.50%

2.30%

3.70%

1.80%

151.51p

80.25p

74.70p

66.66p

70.62p

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Continuing Operations
				
PE Ratio - Adjusted
Earnings per Share
Growth – Adjusted
Dividend Cover

Continuing & Discontinued Operations
Dividend Yield
Net Asset Value per Share
(incl. Intangibles)
Net Gearing

(* Source of ratios for 2008 to 2012 (where applicable) : London Stock Exchange Technical Analysis - Fundamentals)
On the overall, the Company’s Price Earning ratio has declined from 7.50 at a market price of 80 pence for the year ended
31 December 2011 to 5.62 at a market price of 82 pence for the current financial year and its Operating Margin and
Return on Capital Employed reduced to 58.78% and 10.13% respectively.
However, the Company managed to achieve an Operating Profit of RM4,600,619 (£937,986) which includes a Gain
Arising on Revaluation of Biological Asset of RM553,995 (£112,145) despite the lower turnover of the current financial
year. Biological assets are carried at fair value, which is calculated as the present value of the estate’s operating cash
flows over the next ten years, based on Directors’ best estimates of future selling prices of fresh fruit bunches as shown
in Note 9 on Page 64.
In line with the Group’s policy to have its landed properties revalued every 5 years by accredited valuers, a revaluation
on the landed properties of the Company and its Associates were completed towards the end of 2012 resulting in a
substantial increase in the value of the Company’s Freehold Estate by RM37,807,020 (£7,653,243) as shown in Note 9 of
Notes to the Financial Statements. This in turn has substantially increased the Net Assets of the Company as shown in
the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2012.
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Chairman’s Statement

(continued)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)
In determining whether the carrying values of the re-valued properties might materially differ from market values,
the Company compares the average annual price of Crude Palm Oil since the last revaluation and considers a material
difference to have occurred when there has been successive and significant changes in the average annual price in Crude
Palm Oil. In the opinion of the directors, the previous changes to the average annual price since the last revaluation in
2007 did not indicate there to have been significant impact on the market values. The external valuation performed for
the 2012 year end has since identified that a material change has occurred
The increase in value of the Company’s Associates’ investment properties and biological assets were taken to the Income
Statement as part of the Share of Profit of Associate after Tax of RM5,884,959 (£1,191,985). Thus, mainly contributing
to an increase in profit before tax of RM10,836,061 (£2,201,484) from RM9,070,492 (£1,851,163) of the previous
financial year despite the lower turnover achieved for the current financial year. The substantial increase in value of the
Associates’ investment properties and biological assets were due to the Company identifying during the year, that the
biological asset and investment properties held by its Associate have not been held at fair value and have not therefore
been accounted for in accordance with IFRS this is elaborated in note 1 of the financial statements.
The earnings per share of the Company is 71.86 sen (14.59 pence) for the current financial year ended 31 December
2012 as compared to 52.31 sen (10.68 pence) of the previous financial year ended 31 December 2011.

PRE - NURSERY
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Chairman’s Statement

(continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION
The Company has continued to maintain a strong financial position as at 31 December 2012, with net assets of
RM99,677,243 (£20,175,593) as compared with the net assets as at 31 December 2011 of RM52,371,897 (£10,686,294).
Cash and short term deposits totalled RM14,877,621 (£3,011,664) as compared with RM14,856,766 (£3,031,993) of the
previous financial year. The company has no bank borrowings.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The results from the operations for the financial year under review are satisfactory given the factors benefiting the
Company and the measures implemented to counter detrimental elements. However, the Company will continue
practising its prudent approach in its operations as that adopted in the previous years as we must remain guarded
against bearish condition of the world economy which is still struggling to recover.
Replanting is being carried out on schedule to replace trees that are more than 25 years old with the establishment of a
nursery to nurture trees that are high yielding and hardy. The effect of replanting on the revenue of the Company will
be minimal as proper planning is in place to ensure continuous productivity will not be disrupted.
(* Source of CPO Prices : Malaysian Palm Oil Board)
CURRENT YEAR’S PROSPECTS
Despite the sluggish world economy and unpredictable weather, the prospects of the palm oil industry continues to look
bright as the demand for edible oil remains strong together with the progress in biodiesel development and application.
The Company has built and will continue to build a solid foundation over the years to ensure the sustainability of the oil
palms’ production potential. Notwithstanding unpredictable factors such as adverse weather conditions and pest attacks,
crop will be expected to increase in the foreseeable future with a slight drop in the intervening years of replanting. The
Company should see another profitable year ahead given the improved management of the fields to produce better FFB
yields.

INFIELD
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Chairman’s Statement

(continued)

DIVIDEND
Dividends paid, declared or proposed since the end of the previous financial year were as follows:
							
In respect of financial year ended 31 December 2012:			

RM

Interim dividend of 1.5 pence per ordinary share of 10 pence each, single tier, 			
paid on 18 June 2012			
989,757
		
2nd Interim dividend of 1.5 pence and Special dividend of 1 pence per ordinary 		
share of 10 pence each, single tier, paid on 7 December 2012			
1,625,291
							

2,615,048

£

199,749
332,915
532,664

The Board do not recommend a payment of final dividend for the current financial year.
APPRECIATION
On behalf of the board, I would like to record our appreciation to the management and employees for their commitment,
dedication and loyalty in achieving the satisfactory results in the financial year under review. I would also take this
opportunity to thank our shareholders for their support.
Finally, I would like to thank my colleagues on the board for their invaluable advice and contributions during the year.

ROSLAN BIN HAMIR
Chairman
25 February 2013

NARBOROUGH OFFICE - BEFORE AND AFTER
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Directors’ report
DIRECTORS’
REPORT

To be presented at the One Hundred and Third Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Shareholders.

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
									
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES					
					
The principal activity of the Company in the course of the financial year remained unchanged and consists of cultivation
of oil palm.
BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the performance of the Company for the year and an indication of future developments are included in the
Chairman’s Statement. In summary, the financial results of the Company for the year under review are as follows:-

Results								
		
							 2012
2011
									
Production - Oil Palm (FFB)			 13,030 tonnes 13,974 tonnes
							
							2012				2011
						
RM
£
RM
							
Profit for the financial year
9,569,107
1,942,922
6,966,450
					

£
1,421,767

An analysis of the turnover by activity is given in Note 2 to the financial statements. An analysis of profit before taxation
by activity is given in Note 6 to the financial statements.
The key performance indicators are disclosed and analysed in the Chairman’s Statement and on page 8 with appropriate
discussion in the review of operations.
		

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
The principal risks and uncertainties of the Company’s business are:
•
•
•

Unexpected variations in crop, principally caused by unusual weather and pest infestation.
Variations in commodity prices.
Input cost inflation.

The above risks and uncertainties are beyond the control of the Company. However, the following measures were taken
to lessen the impact of these risks and uncertainties:
•

Unusual variations in crops are mostly due to excessive rainfall arising from La Nina effect or low rain fall due to El
Nino effect and sudden pest outbreak i.e. infestation of rats, bagworms and rhinoceros beetles. Drains and water
retention ponds have been constructed strategically around the estate to ensure sufficient supply of water to the
trees in the event of drought brought on by the El Nino effect. The drains are also to ensure sufficient drainage
to avoid flooding. As for pest control measures taken, this is mentioned in detail in the Corporate Governance
statement under the title, Corporate Responsibility – Environmental Management.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
•

Variations in commodity prices are governed by market forces. Hence, to ensure stable revenue for the Company
in the event of a fall in palm oil futures, measures have been taken to optimise the production level of the trees.
In addition, the Company also places emphasis on producing quality FFB that will command a better Oil Extraction
Rate (“OER”) from the mills, which in turn will affect the price of our FFB.

•

The mitigation of input cost inflation is further explained under the title, Internal Control in the Corporate
Governance statement.

•

The Company is a member of the Malayan Agricultural Producers Association (“MAPA”), and the Malaysian Palm Oil
Association (“MPOA”) which keeps its members updated on the latest development of the Government of Malaysia’s
requirement on the industry. MAPA also advises on how best to comply with the requirements in the best interest
of the Company. Whereas MPOA provides the information on the latest technology available to protect against pest
attacks and to increase yield.

EMPLOYEES
There are three (3) categories of employees in the Company. The first category is for Executives. The second category
consist of Staff employed under terms and conditions as set out in the collective agreement between MAPA and The All
Malayan Estates Staff Union (“AMESU”). The third category consist of Field Workers employed under terms and conditions
as set out in the collective agreement between MAPA and The National Union of Plantation Workers (“NUPW”).
Remuneration and any disciplinary actions on the third category of employees are governed by the terms and conditions
of the MAPA/NUPW agreements.
The Executive Director will conduct a bi-annual staff review on employees under category one and two to gauge their
performance in carrying out assigned tasks and duties and propose remuneration and promotion to the Board of
Directors for consideration and approval. For employees under category two, remuneration and promotion will be
according to the grading and salary scale as agreed under the MAPA/AMESU agreements.

EXECUTIVE CONFERENCE 2012
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Directors’ Report (continued)

FINANCIAL RISK
Information on financial instruments and other risks is set out in Note 22 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
Employee Health and Safety
The Company is committed to provide a safe and healthy working environment for its workforce through effective and
stringent implementation of the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) in its operations. Appropriate training and
guidance is given to the workforce on OSHA. External OSHA consultants are engaged to assist in effective development,
implementation and continuous improvement in occupational safety and health in accordance with current best
practices. The Company completed refurbishing housing for staffs in 2012 with widened rooms and sanitation facilities
upgraded to provide better comfort and healthier living environment. The upgrades on housing for field workers will
begin in 2013. Prayer facilities, temples and mosque are also provided to the staff and workers according to their faith.

APPRECIATION LUNCH FOR WORKERS & STAFF AFTER REPLANTING

NARBOROUGH STAFF QUARTERS - BEFORE AND AFTER
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Environmental Management
The Company practices sustainable oil palm cultivation as its estate was converted from former rubber plantation and
not from virgin forest land. The natural biological system of its estate is prioritised where the use of organic fertilisers
ie. waste product from the palm oil mills such as empty fruit bunches and decanter cake are emphasised. Pest control
through natural means such as the building of barn owl boxes to attract owls for rat control, planting of Turnera Subulata
plants as a habitat for wasp which is a predator of bagworms and pheromone bait for rhinoceros beetles are also given
priority to ensure minimum disruption to the natural environment. Pesticides and inorganic fertilisers are applied under
stringent controls according to professional agronomist recommendations. The oil palm plantation also acts as a water
catchment area as well as assists to prevent soil erosion through cover crop planted and provide oxygen to the air.

BRIDGE
Corporate Contributions
The Company’s Benevolent Fund set up in 2008 consists of approximately 0.5% of its yearly profit after tax for the
purpose of contributing back to the community. The Company has donated RM15,449 (£3,153) during the financial
year ended 31 December 2012 from the said fund for educational, health and welfare purposes to the local welfare
organisations and the less fortunate. As a responsible corporate citizen, the Company will continue to identify more
eligible candidates who will benefit from the Benevolent Fund.
SHARE CAPITAL
The structure of the Company’s capital and the rights and obligations, if any, attached to each class of shares at the end
of the year, are disclosed in Notes 19 and 20 of the financial statements.
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
All movements to or from provisions are disclosed in Note 15 of the financial statements. The reserves during the year
under review are disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity and Note 20 of the financial statements.
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Statement by directors
Directors’
Report
(continued)
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the
Companies
Act 1965

FIXED ASSETS AND PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
The open market value of the Company’s freehold land and buildings and biological assets expressed by a firm of valuers
was RM68,613,870 (£13,889,447) as at 31 December 2012. The book value of the freehold land and buildings, biological
assets and other fixed assets as at 31 December 2012 was RM69,547,098 (£14,078,359). Please refer to Note 9 of the
financial statements which also include property, plant and equipment held at historical cost and not included in the
valuation.
DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid and proposed for the year are disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.
DIRECTORATE AND DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
The present directors of the Company together with brief biographical details are listed on pages 5 to 6.
In accordance with Article 36 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Adrian Tsen Keng Yam retires by rotation at
the forthcoming One Hundred and Third AGM and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election.
In the past year the application of Provision B.7.1 of the UK Corporate Governance Code, that all non-executive directors
that have served longer than nine years should be subject to annual re-election, was overlooked. This oversight will
be resolved henceforth with the annual re-election of Non-Executive Directors who have served for more than nine (9)
years. The following eligible directors have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming One Hundred and
Third AGM and annually thereafter:NAME OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Roslan Bin Hamir
Juliana Manohari Devadason
Stephen Willian Huntsman

DATE OF APPOINTMENT
07.08.2002
12.11.1987
01.08.2001

SERVICE YEARS
10
25
11

Stephen William Huntsman, a director of the Company, is deemed interested in Riverview Rubber Estates Berhad, which
held 6,632,340 shares of the Company, representing 49.8% of the issued and paid up share capital as at 31 December
2012.
There have been no changes in the above interests in the period up to the date of this report.
No directors had any interest either during or at the end of the year in any material contract or arrangement with the
Company.
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
Pursuant to Article 44 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board recommends that the non-executive directors’
fees encompassing the Chairman’s emoluments and the other Directors’ fees be £7,000 and £4,041 respectively.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
At the date of this report, the only notice received by the Company regarding substantial beneficial shareholdings in its
issued ordinary share capital were as follows:					
Name of shareholder

No. of ordinary shares
of 10p each

Percentage of issued
ordinary share capital

6,632,340
3,466,260

49.8%
26.0%

Riverview Rubber Estates Berhad*
Hamidah binti Abdul Rahman

* A company incorporated in Malaysia and listed on Bursa Malaysia.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on corporate governance is set out on pages 20 to 28.
APPOINTMENT AND REPLACEMENT OF DIRECTORS
The Company’s rules on the appointment and replacement of directors are contained in its Articles of Association.
AMENDMENT OF COMPANY’S ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
Any amendment to the Company’s Articles of Association can only be made after shareholders’ approval at a General
Meeting.
POWERS OF DIRECTORS
The powers of directors, for example in relation to the issuing or buying back by the Company of its own shares, are
contained in the Company’s Articles of Association.
AGREEMENTS
•
•

There are no agreements to which the Company is a party that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of
control of the Company following a takeover bid.
There are no agreements between the Company and its directors or employees providing for compensation for loss
of office or employment (whether through resignation, purported redundancy or otherwise) that occurs because of
a takeover bid.

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY
The Company’s policy, in relation to all of its suppliers, is to settle the terms of payment when agreeing the terms of the
transaction and to abide by those terms (provided that it is satisfied that the supplier has provided the goods or services
in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions). The Company does not follow any code or standard on payment
practice.
Trade creditors of the Company at the year end amount to 15 days (2011: 15 days) of average suppliers for the financial
period.
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TAX RESIDENCE
The Company is tax resident in Malaysia.
AUDITORS’ EMPHASIS OF MATTER
Further explanations on the auditors’ Emphasis of Matter are shown in Note 1 - Basis of Preparation and Note 1.6 –
Associates in the Notes to The Financial Statements.
AUDITORS
All of the current directors have taken the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any
information needed by the Company’s auditors for the purpose of their audit and to establish that the auditors are
aware of the information. The directors are not aware of any relevant information of which the auditors are unaware.
BDO LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
By Order of the Board,
ROSLAN BIN HAMIR
Chairman

PEST CONTROL

RHINOCEROUS BEETLES TRAP BY
PHEREMONE TRAPS

BARN OWL BOX

PHEREMONE TRAPS FOR BEETLES

TUNERA SUBULATA
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Indepndent auditors’ report to the members of
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Latitude Tree Holdings
Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

The Board is satisfied that it has implemented a framework for corporate governance which is appropriate for the
Company to enable the directors to discharge their responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholders’ value and
the long-term financial performance of the Company. The directors acknowledged the ultimate objective of the UK
Governance Code (“the Code”) on corporate governance and the Turnbull Guidance on Internal Control issued by the The
Financial Reporting Council. The directors are satisfied that except for Provision B.7.1 of the Code which was overlooked
during the year, the Company has complied with all the provisions of the Code throughout the year. The Company will
be compliant with Provision B.7.1 of the Code in all future years.

THE BOARD
The Board comprises four non-executive directors (two of whom are independent) and an executive director. Other than
Madam Juliana Manohari Devadason, Mr Stephen William Hunstman and Mr Adrian Tsen Keng Yam, the remaining two
non-executive directors are considered by the Board to be independent. Both independent non-executive directors have
a wide range of business interests beyond their position with the Company and the rest of the Board are satisfied that
they have shown themselves to be fully independent. The audit, remuneration and nomination and risk management
committees have written terms of reference.
A Senior Manager oversees operations and executive functions. There is clear segregation of responsibilities between
the Chairman, who is an independent non-executive director as of 7 December 2012, the Executive Director and the
Senior Manager to ensure a balance of power and authority. The Executive Director and the Senior Manager is subject
to the control of the Board of Directors. This is to ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no individual has
unfettered powers of decision.
The Board meets at least four times a year to discuss the Company’s affairs and all important business decisions are
formally discussed and documented. The Board has reserved certain specific matters for its collective review and
decision. These include approval of annual and interim results, approval of annual budget, declaration of dividends and
authorisation of major transactions. The directors ensure that they have full and timely access to all relevant information
to aid their decision making. The Board has access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is also the
Executive Director and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. In furtherance of its duties, it is also the norm for the Board to seek independent
professional advice if necessary.
All the independent Non-Executive Directors met on their own during 2012. The Chairman met all the Non-Executive
Directors twice in 2012 in the absence of the Executive Director.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee appointed on 7 December
2012, Mdm Lim Hu Fang, is the Senior Independent Director of the Company.
There are no specific periods of appointment for the Non-Executive Directors to ensure stability and to maintain
historical knowledge. However, the board will review the position of each director for the normal re-election under the
Company’s Articles of Association.
All the Directors are required to attend mandatory accreditation programmes organised by accredited professional
bodies in Malaysia to ensure continuous professional development.
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Corporate Governance (continued)

THE BOARD (continued)
During the financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Board met five (5) times and the details of the meeting attendance
by each director are as follows:
					
Name of directors
		
Roslan Bin Hamir
Adrian Tsen Keng Yam
Juliana Manohari Devadason
Stephen William Huntsman
Lim Hu Fang 		

Number of
meetings held

Number of
meetings attended

5
5
5
5
5

5
5
5
5
5

The five directors retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. The Senior Manager
is on a one year rolling service contract.
BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is supported by the Audit Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference which define their membership, authorities and responsibilities. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are shown as per Appendix I.
The Audit Committee, consisting of three non-executive directors who are Mdm Lim Hu Fang (Chairman), Mr Roslan
Bin Hamir and Mr Stephen William Huntsman, the majority of whom are independent, meets at least four times a year.
The Committee is responsible for reviewing a wide range of financial matters before their submission to the Board and
monitoring the controls that are in force to ensure the integrity of the financial information reported to the shareholders.
The Audit Committee also reviews annually the terms of appointment of the auditors to ensure that an objective,
professional and cost-effective relationship is maintained. During the financial period under review there was no nonaudit fees paid by the Company to the external auditors.
The activities of the Audit Committee during the financial period under review are as follows:
1. Reviewed the quarterly and final results and recommend to the Board for approval prior to release to the London
Stock Exchange;
2. Reviewed the scope and audit plan of the internal auditors;
3. Reviewed the scope and audit plan of the external auditors;
4. Reviewed the scope and plan for the enterprise risk management review;
5. Reviewed the internal audit report, which highlighted the audit issues and findings, recommendations and
management’s responses thereto;
6. Reviewed the enterprise risk management report, which highlighted the Company’s internal risk, recommendations
to counter such risk and management’s responses thereto;
7. Reviewed the audited financial statements and annual report; and
8. Conducted informal high-level risk assessment and review of the business operations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, which consist of three non-executive directors, is responsible for
determining performance related remuneration packages for executive director and senior management. The Committee
keeps under review the composition of the Board, a profile of the required skills, attributes and experience and makes
recommendations to the Board concerning new appointments and re-appointment of all directors.
The effectiveness and performance of each member of the Board are currently reviewed through their level of
participation as to whether sufficient time has been committed to discharge his or her duties. An example of this is the
frequent visits by the members to the Estate with the independent Planting Advisor to gauge the effectiveness of the
actions taken as decided in the Board meetings. The Chairman is evaluated by the members of Board separately and
their views presented to the Chairman as to whether his or her terms of reference has been fulfilled. The members
are satisfied with the dedication shown by the Chairman in discharging his or her duties for the financial year ended 31
December 2012.
The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on pages 29 to 32.

The details of meeting attendance of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee during
the financial year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:					
Audit Committee
		
Lim Hu Fang 		
Roslan Bin Hamir
Stephen William Huntsman

					
					
					
					
					
Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Lim Hu Fang 		
Roslan Bin Hamir
Stephen William Huntsman

22

Number of
meetings held

Number of
meetings attended

4
4
4

4
4
4

Number of
meetings held
in relation to
the financial
year ended
31 December 2012

Number of
meetings
attended

1
1
1

1
1
1

Corporate Governance (continued)

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Turnbull Guidance has been followed in applying Section C.2 of the Code for the Company’s Internal Control.
The directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for the Company’s system of internal control and for
reviewing its effectiveness in safeguarding shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets from inappropriate use
or from loss and fraud, and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed. However, such a system is designed to
manage and control risk rather than to eliminate them, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
The Board is committed in maintaining a system of internal control with the following key elements.
Organisation
The Company has a defined organisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and monitoring business
operations in order to achieve Company’s objectives. The Board presides over an organisational structure that is
decentralised, but with defined lines of responsibility and specific delegation of authority.
Risk Management
The directors are responsible for identifying and evaluating key risks applicable to the business. These risks have been
and are being assessed on a continual basis, as they are associated with a variety of internal or external factors. An
external professional firm has been engaged to carry out Enterprise Risk Management review on the operations of the
Company on an annual basis starting from 2011 in addition to the Risk Management Committee, comprising a Director,
the Company Secretary, the Senior Manager and the Manager, which was formed to assist the directors in identifying
and evaluating key risks applicable to the business. Issues are periodically reviewed and discussed in order to form a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed and thereon report to the Board.
Information and Communication
The directors undertake periodical strategic reviews, which include consideration of long term objectives and evaluation
of business alternatives. The management prepares annual budget and monthly management accounts for submission
to the Board for approval. The Board meets regularly to evaluate the performance of the operations and gauge against
approved budgets.
Through these mechanisms, the Company’s performance is continually monitored, risks identified in a timely manner,
their financial implications assessed and corrective actions agreed and implemented.
Control Procedures
The Company has adequate control procedures designed to ensure complete and accurate accounting for transactions
and to limit the potential exposure to loss of assets or fraud. Measures taken include physical controls, segregation
of duties, review by the directors and management, and external audit to the extent necessary to arrive at their audit
opinion
Monitoring and Corrective Action
The Board regularly reviews the overall operations of the Company. The Audit Committee is tasked to review the
assurance procedures to obtain the level of assurance required and reports to the Board.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Monitoring and Corrective Action (continued)
During the financial year, the Internal Audit function has been outsourced to a professional audit firm. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the internal audit programme before commencement of the internal audit. After completion
of the internal audit, the results were presented to the Audit Committee for discussion as to whether or not appropriate
action is to be taken. In addition, the Executive Director conducts regular field, office inspections and chairs the monthly
managers’ meetings to discuss the effectiveness and control procedures of estate operations. A copy of the minutes
of these meetings will thereafter be submitted to the Board for review. The Audit Committee and the Board also
reviewed the plantation visit reports submitted by the independent Planting Advisor, whose main duties are to assess
the operations and condition of the estates at least twice a year. An Agronomist has also been appointed to conduct
field visits at least twice a year to assess the condition of the trees and provide necessary recommendation to assist in
improving productivity and control pest damage. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the internal audit activities
are adequately covered.
In addition to the internal audit report, the Audit Committee also reviews the Enterprise Risk Management report from
the external professional firm to identify and mitigate internal risk arising from estate operations.
In respect of the period under review, the directors are not aware of any material internal control aspects of any
significant problems which need to be disclosed in this report.
RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The directors maintain a policy of keeping all our shareholders, irrespective of size, informed about the Company’s
policies and progress as the directors value a constructive relationship with our investors. Communication with
shareholders is given high priority. The Annual Report together with Notice of Annual General Meeting are sent to
shareholders well in advance. Quarterly and final results are duly announced on the London Stock Exchange website
and the Company’s own website at www.narboroughplantations.com upon approval from the Board. The Company’s
announcements and financial reports are also available for public inspection on the National Storage Mechanism located
at www.morningstar.co.uk/uk/nsm.aspx. Shareholders’ participation is most welcomed at the Annual General Meeting.
GOING CONCERN
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set out in the Directors’ report on page 13. The financial position of the Company, its cash flows and liquidity
position is shown in the financial statements and notes to financial statements on page 44 to page 79. In addition, note
22 to the financial statements includes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.
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The Company has considerable financial resources together with contract from a major oil mill selected on bidding and
tender basis. Suppliers of fertilisers are selected through open tender to control cost of operations. As a consequence,
the directors believe that the Company is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the uncertain
economic outlook.
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for at least 12 months from the date of signing this statement. Accordingly, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts in accordance with the Going
Concern and Liquidity Risk Guidance for Directors of UK Companies 2009 published by the Financial Reporting Council.
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The directors are ultimately responsible for keeping proper accounting records of the Company. The directors’ statement
of responsibility in respect of the financial statements is set out on page 33.
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APPENDIX I
TERM OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Objectives
The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling the following oversight
objectives on the activities of the Company:
• assess the company’s process relating to its governance, risk and control environment;
• oversee financial reporting; and
• evaluate the internal and external audit processes, including issues relating to the system of internal control, risk
Management and governance within the Company.
Composition
The Board shall elect and appoint an Audit Committee comprising at least three (3) Directors. All members of the Audit
Committee shall be Non-Executive Directors, with a majority Independent. All members of the Audit Committee should
be financially literate.
The Board shall at all times ensure that at least one (1) member of the Committee:
• must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or
• if not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, must have at least three (3) years working experience
and;
- must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Malaysian Accountants Act,
1967; or
- must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of the First Schedule of the of
the Malaysian Accountants Act, 1967 ; or
• must have at least three (3) years’ post qualification experience in accounting or finance;
- has a degree/masters/doctorate in accounting or finance; or
- is a member of one (1) of the professional accountancy organisations which has been admitted as a full member
of the International Federation of Accountants; or
• must have at least seven (7) years experience being a chief financial officer of a corporation or having the function
of being primarily responsible for the Management of the financial affairs of a corporation; or
• fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by the London Stock Exchange
If a member of the Committee resigns, dies or for any reason ceases to be a member with the result that the number of
members is reduced to below three (3), the Board shall within three (3) months of the event, appoint new members as
may be required to fill the vacancy.
The Chairman of the Committee shall be an Independent Non-Executive Director. No alternate Director of the Board
shall be appointed a member of the Committee.
The Board shall review the terms of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members at least
once (1) every three (3) years to determine whether the Audit Committee and members have carried out their duties in
accordance with their terms of reference.
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TERM OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
Quorum and Committee’s Procedures
Meetings shall be conducted at least four (4) times annually, with each meeting planned to coincide with key dates in the
Company’s financial reporting cycle, or more frequently as circumstances dictate.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee shall engage continuously with Senior Management, such as the Executive
Director, The Head of Finance, Representatives of the Internal Auditors and the External Auditors in order to be kept
informed of matters affecting the Company.
In order to form a quorum, the majority of the members present must be Independent Non- Executive Directors. In the
absence of the Chairman, the members shall elect a Chairman for the meeting from amongst them.
The Company Secretary shall be appointed Secretary of the Committee (“the Secretary”). The Secretary in conjunction
with the Chairman shall draw up the agenda, which shall be circulated together with the relevant support papers, at
least one (1) week prior to each meeting to members of the Committee. The Secretary shall be entrusted to record all
proceedings and minutes of all meetings of the Committee and the circulation of the minutes to all Board members at
each Board Meeting.
The Committee shall regulate the manner of proceeding of its meetings, having regard to normal conventions on such
matter.
The Head of Finance, Representatives of the Internal and External Auditors shall attend meetings upon invitation of the
Committee. The Committee may, as when deemed necessary, invite other Board members and Senior Management
members to attend the meetings.
The Committee shall meet at least twice (2) a year with the Internal and External Auditor or both, to discuss any matters
with the Committee without the presence of the Executive Director and employees of the Company.
Authority
The Committee is authorised to investigate any matter within its terms of refence and all employees are directed to
cooperate with any request made by the Committee.
The Committee shall have full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company. The Committee
shall have direct communication channels with the Internal and External Auditors.
The Committee shall have the resources that are required to perform its duties. The Committee can obtain, at the
expense of the Company, outside legal or other independent professional or other advice it considers necessary.
Where the Committee is of the view that a matter reported by it to the Board has not been satisfactorily resolved
resulting in a Breach of the Listing Requirements of the London Stock Exchange, the Committee shall promptly report
such matter to the Financial Services Authority.
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TERM OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
Responsibilities and Duties
In fulfilling its primary objectives, the Committee shall undertake the following responsibilities and duties:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
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Review the quarterly results and the year-end financial statements, prior to approval by the Board, focusing
particularly on:
- changes in or implementation of accounting policies and practices;
- significant adjustments or unusual events;
- going concern assumption; and
- compliance with accounting standards, regulatory and other legal requirements;
Review with the External Auditor, the audit scope and plan, including any changes to the planned scope of the audit
plan;
Review with the External Auditor, the results of the audit and the Management’s response thereto, including the
status of previous audit recommendations;
Review the assistance given by the Company’s employees to the Auditors, and any difficulties encountered in the
course of the audit work, including any restrictions on the scope of activities or access to required information;
Review the appointment and performance of the External Auditor, the audit fee and any question of resignation or
dismissal before making recommendations to the Board;
Review with the External Auditor, its evaluations of the system of Internal controls;
Review the adequacy of the Internal audit scope, functions, competency and resources of the Internal Auditors and
that it has necessary authority to carry out its work;
Review the Internal audit programme, processes and reports to evaluate the findings of Internal audit and to ensure
that appropriate and prompt remedial action is taken by Management on the recommendations of the Internal
Auditors;
Approve any appointment or termination of Internal Auditors and take cognizance of resignations and providing the
resigning party an opportunity to submit reasons for resigning;
Review any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company, including
any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises question on Management integrity;
Direct and, where appropriate, supervise any special projects or investigation considered necessary, and review
investigation reports on any major defalcations, frauds and thefts; and
Carry out any other activities, as authorised by the Board.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

The Board presents its Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2012 to the shareholders. This
Report covers both Executive and Non-executive Directors.
A resolution will be put to the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 21 June 2013 inviting them
to consider and approve this Report.
Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (“the Committee”) comprises entirely of non-executive directors, namely
Mdm Lim Hu Fang (Chairman), Encik Roslan Bin Hamir and Mr Stephen William Huntsman. The Committee operates
within agreed terms of reference and in respect of directors’ remuneration, is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the performance related packages for the executive director and senior management as well as nonexecutive directors.
The Committee meets as required and seeks professional advice, as necessary from inside and outside the Company.
In its consideration of directors’ remuneration matters for the financial period under review, the following persons
provided advice or services to the Committee.
•

Internal support was provided by the Company Secretary; and

•

Thomson Financial was responsible for preparing Total Shareholder Return (TSR) calculations for the purpose of this
Report. Thomson Financial did not provide any other advice or services to the Company.

Compliance
The directors are satisfied that as far as practical the Company has complied with the provision of the UK Corporate
Governance Code and Revised Combined Code relating to Directors’ Remuneration throughout the year.
Remuneration Policy
The remuneration of all directors, including the Chairman is determined by the Board as a whole, on the recommendation
of the Committee. The decision of the Board on directors’ remuneration is taken in relation to the size and operation of
the Company along with pay and employment conditions of its other employees in the organisation.
In ensuring continuing improvement in the performance of the Company, the overall remuneration policy is aimed at
attracting, retaining and motivating high calibre management. Consistent with this policy, the component parts of the
remuneration package are designed to link rewards to individual and corporate performance in the case of executive
director consistent with the consideration of pay and employment conditions of other employees of the Company. For
non-executive directors, the fee levels are intended to commensurate with the experience and level of responsibilities
of the non-executive directors concerned. This policy is currently to be applied in subsequent years.
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UNAUDITED INFORMATION
Directors’ Service Period
Director
Designation
		
Roslan Bin Hamir
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive
Adrian Tsen Keng Yam
Executive Non-Independent
Juliana Manohari Devadason Non-Executive Non-Independent
Lim Hu Fang
Senior Independent Non-Executive
Stephen Willian Huntsman
Non-Executive Non-Independent

Date Of
Appointment
07.08.2002
17.03.2006
12.11.1987
29.10.2010
01.08.2001

Date Of 		
Last Re-Election
22.06.2012
19.06.2009
24.06.2011
24.06.2011
18.06.2010

All non-executive directors who have served for more than nine (9) years should be subjected to re-election annually
under Provison B.7.1 of the UK Corporate Governance Code, but this was overlooked in the year. The non-executive
directors who are eligible for re-election are shown on Page 15.
Terms of appointment and termination of Directors are governed by Articles 31 to 43 of the Company’s Article of
Association. The Company do not compensate for any early termination of Directors’ Office.
Elements of Remuneration
The directors’ remuneration comprises directors’ basic salary, fee and benefits in kind as per terms and conditions as set
out in Article 44 of the Company’s Article of Association.
Non-executive directors’ fees
All non-executive directors except for Mdm Juliana Manohari Devadason received a director’s fee of RM34,580 (£7,000)
for their role. Mdm Juliana Manohari Devadason received a director’s fee of RM39,520 (£8,000) for her services as
Chairman until 7 December 2012. The director’s fees have not changed since the last financial year end.
Executive directors’ Service Contract
The Executive Director, Mr Adrian Tsen Keng Yam is not under a service contract. He was remunerated with a director’s
fee of RM34,580 (£7,000) for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
Benefits in kind
Madam Juliana Manohari Devadason, is provided with a company car, the benefit arising from the use of the car
amounted to RM5,000 (£1,012).
Other emoluments
All directors serve the Company by appointment in which they have given their consent to act in the capacity as director
with the approval of the shareholders; they do not have any service contracts. It is the policy of the Company that all
directors do not participate in incentive or pension schemes.
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UNAUDITED INFORMATION (continued)
Total Shareholder Return
The Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulation requires disclosure of Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”), which is defined
as the growth in share value and declared dividend income during the determined period.
Performance Graph
This performance graph set out below illustrate the Company’s TSR performance over the preceding five years, 2008 to
2012, compared with that of the FTSE All Share Index and has been prepared in accordance with the Regulations. This
index was chosen as it represents the performance of the market in general.

TSR Performance Graph
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AUDITED INFORMATION
The following part provides details of the remuneration and share interests of all the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2012. The numerical components of these disclosures have been audited in accordance with Section 421 of
the UK Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ Individual Remuneration
The details of the remuneration of each director of the Company during the financial year are as follows:
			 Total
		
Benefit
2012
Fees
in Kind
(12 months)
£
£
£

Total
2011
(12 months)
£

Executive				
Adrian Tsen Keng Yam
7,000
7,000
7,000
				
Non-executive				
Juliana Manohari Devadason
8,000
1,012
9,012
9,020
Roslan Bin Hamir
7,000
7,000
7,000
Stephen William Huntsman
7,000
7,000
7,000
Lim Hu Fang
7,000		
7,000
7,000

Grand total

29,000

1,012

30,012

30,020

36,000

1,012

37,012

37,020

During the financial year under review or the prior period, there was no:
•

incentive payment;

•

payment in respect of qualifying services by way of expenses allowance that was chargeable to UK income tax;

•

compensation in respect of loss of office or in connection with termination of qualifying services;

•

share option scheme;

•

awards under long-term schemes held by directors; and

•

pension scheme.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:
Lim Hu Fang
Chairman
Remuneration & Nomination Committee
25 February 2013
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the
law the directors are required to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the and of the
profit or loss for the company for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

•

prepare a director’s report and director’s remuneration report which comply with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Website publication
The directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and the financial statements are made available on a
website. Financial statements are published on the company’s website in accordance with legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in
other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the company’s website is the responsibility of the directors. The
directors’ responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein.
Financial statements are published on the Company’s website – www.narboroughplantations.com.
Directors’ responsiblilities pursuant to DTR4
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge:
•

The group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the group.

•

The annual report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the financial
position of the group and the parent company, together with a description or the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

The report of the auditors can be found on pages 33 to page 34.
This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 25 February 2013 and
authorised for issue on 25 February 2013.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE NARBOROUGH PLANTATIONS, plc

We have audited the financial statements of The Narborough Plantations plc for the year ended 31 December 2012
which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, the
statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit
and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical
Standards for Auditors.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
audit opinion.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/
scope/private.cfm
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and its profit for the year then
ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Emphasis of matter
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we draw your attention to note 1.1 (i) and
1.6 to the financial statements which describes the impracticability of restating the comparative amounts presented
in connection with the company’s investment in its associate in the Income Statement and the Statement of Financial
Position and the consequential impact on the amounts reported in profit for the current financial year and on reported
net assets. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter in accordance with IAS 8, paragraph 52, Impracticability
in Respect of Retrospective Application and Retrospective Restatement.
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Report Of The Independent Auditors

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE NARBOROUGH PLANTATIONS, plc (continued)

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
•

the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006;

•

the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 20 to 28 of the financial statements
with respect to internal control and risk management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about
share capital is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to
you if, in our opinion:
•

returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the Company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

•

a Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by the Company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
•

the directors’ statement, set out on page 24, in relation to going concern; and

•

the part of the corporate governance statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review.

•

certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on directors’ remuneration.

David Eagle (senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor
Gatwick
United Kingdom
26 February 2013
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2012

Revenue

2011

NOTE

RM

£

RM

£

2

7,819,763

1,595,870

9,675,947

1,974,683

Cost of sales

(2,304,239)

Gross profit

5,515,524

Gain arising on revaluation
  of biological assets
Other operating income
Administrative expenses
Foreign exchange gain
Replanting expenditure

553,995
35,159
(811,502)
25,082
(717,639)

Operating profit
Share of profit of associate after tax pre fair
  value of the investment properties and
  biological asset adjustment
Fair value of the investment
  properties adjustment
Deferred tax recognised on the
  investment properties
Fair value of the biological asset adjustment
Deferred tax recognised on the biological asset

(470,253)
1,125,617

(2,215,223)
7,460,724

(452,086)
1,522,597

112,145
7,175
(165,613)
5,119
(146,457)

1,217,412
15,020
(844,980)
68,679
(52,961)

248,451
3,065
(172,445)
14,016
(10,808)

4,600,619

937,986

7,863,894

1,604,876

422,705

86,266

900,069

183,688

4,796,428

970,937

-

-

(1,195,208)
2,481,379
(620,345)

(241,945)
502,303
(125,576)

-

-

1,191,985
75,318
(3,805)

900,069
325,378
(18,849)

183,688
66,404
(3,805)

Share of profit of associate after tax
Finance income
Finance costs

3
4

5,884,959
369,058
(18,575)

Profit before tax
Tax expense

6
7

10,836,061
(1,266,954)

2,201,484
(258,562)

9,070,492
(2,104,042)

1,851,163
(429,396)

Profit from continuing operations

9,569,107

1,942,922

6,966,450

1,421,767

Profit for the financial year
  attributable to:
  - Owners of the parent

9,569,107

1,942,922

6,966,450

1,421,767

71.86 sen

14.59 pence

52.31 sen

10.68 pence

Earnings per share
- basic and diluted
  (sen/pence)

8

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this income statement.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012

Profit for the financial year

2011

RM

£

RM

£

9,569,107

1,942,922

6,966,450

1,421,767

37,807,020

7,653,243

-

-

Other comprehensive income
Gain on revaluation of freehold land
The total of the net deficit
  arising on translation of
  statement of financial position
  items at beginning of period and
  results of the financial year to
  financial year-end exchange rate
  has been further analysed to
  show the impact of foreign
  exchange rates on each of the
  component parts of equity as
  represented by net assets:
  - revaluation reserve
  - capital reserve
  - foreign exchange reserve
  - general reserve
  - retained earnings
Share of associates’ other
  comprehensive income
  - gain on revaluation of leasehold land
  - exchange fluctuation and fair value reserve

-

2,599,575
(55,308)

(34,465)
(4,464)
(8,223)
(1,446)
(40,638)

-

(106,856)
(13,040)
(25,495)
(4,481)
(99,427)

526,230
(11,196)

155,778

31,791

(217,508)

Total other comprehensive
  income

40,351,287

8,079,041

155,778

Total comprehensive income
  for the financial year

49,920,394

10,021,963

7,122,228

1,204,259

Total comprehensive income
  attributable to:
  - Owners of the parent

49,920,394

10,021,963

7,122,228

1,204,259

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of comprehensive income.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012

2011

NOTE

RM

£

RM

£

9
9
10
11

53,215,228
16,331,870
17,614
19,323,719

10,772,313
3,306,046
3,566
3,911,684

14,834,568
15,777,875
44,034
10,894,493

3,027,464
3,219,974
8,986
2,223,366

88,888,431

17,993,609

41,550,970

8,479,790

7,943
85,994
289,349
639,942
14,877,621

1,608
17,408
58,573
129,543
3,011,664

98,311
12,161
433,459
123,577
14,856,766

20,063
2,482
88,461
25,220
3,031,993

15,900,849

3,218,796

15,524,274

3,168,219

104,789,280

21,212,405

57,075,244

11,648,009

ASSETS
Non-current assets
  Property, plant and equipment
  Biological assets
  Prepaid lease payments
  Investment in associate
Total non-current assets
Current assets
  Deferred nursery expenditure
  Inventories
  Trade and other receivables
  Current tax assets
  Cash and cash equivalents

12
13
14

Total current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
  Provision for retirement benefits
  Deferred tax liabilities
  Cumulative preference shares

15
16
17

(10,340)
(4,127,607)
(84,163)

(2,093)
(835,548)
(19,024)

(25,156)
(3,980,538)
(84,163)

(5,134)
(812,355)
(19,024)

(4,222,110)

(856,665)

(4,089,857)

(836,513)

(889,927)

(180,147)

(613,490)

(125,202)

(889,927)

(180,147)

(613,490)

(125,202)

Total liabilities

(5,112,037)

(1,036,812)

(4,703,347)

(961,715)

TOTAL NET ASSETS

99,677,243

20,175,593

52,371,897

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
  Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

18

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of financial position.
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10,686,294

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012
NOTE
Issued capital and reserves
  attributable to owners
  of the parent
    Share capital
    Other reserves
    Retained earnings
TOTAL EQUITY

2011

RM

£

RM

£

4,891,969
64,783,496
30,001,778

1,331,659
12,770,698
6,073,236

4,891,969
24,432,209
23,047,719

1,331,659
4,651,019
4,703,616

99,677,243

20,175,593

52,371,897

10,686,294

20
19

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2013 and
were signed on its behalf by:

ROSLAN BIN HAMIR
Chairman

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of financial position.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

Revaluation
reserve,
Capital net of attributable
reserve
deferred tax
RM
RM

Share
capital
RM
At 1 January 2011

General
reserve
RM

Retained
earnings
RM

Total
RM

18,390,367

47,558,767

4,891,969

2,545,213

20,856,520

874,698

Dividends (Note 21)

-

-

-

-

(2,309,098)

(2,309,098)

Profit for the financial year

-

-

-

-

6,966,450

6,966,450

Other comprehensive income

-

155,778

-

-

-

155,778

4,891,969

2,700,991

20,856,520

874,698

23,047,719

52,371,897

Dividends (Note 21)

-

-

-

-

(2,615,048)

(2,615,048)

Profit for the financial year

-

-

-

-

9,569,107

9,569,107

Other comprehensive income

-

40,406,595

-

-

40,351,287

61,263,115

874,698

30,001,778

99,677,243

At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2012

4,891,969

(55,308)
2,645,683

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of changes in equity.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

Revaluation
reserve, net of Foreign
Capital attributable exchange
reserve deferred tax reserve
£
£
£

General
reserve
£

1,331,659

532,471

4,363,289

182,991

Dividends (Note 21)

-

-

-

-

-

Profit for the financial year

-

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

18,751

1,331,659

551,222

4,256,433

Dividends (Note 21)

-

-

-

-

-

Profit for the financial year

-

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

(31,881) 8,161,229

(8,223)

1,331,659

519,341 12,417,662

(343,369)

Share
capital
£
At 1 January 2011

At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2012

(106,856)

(309,651)

(25,495)
(335,146)

(4,481)
178,510

(1,446)
177,064

Retained
earnings
£
3,847,357
(466,081)
1,421,767
(99,427)

Total
£
9,948,116
(466,081)
1,421,767
(217,508)

4,703,616 10,686,294
(532,664)
1,942,922

(532,664)
1,942,922

(40,638) 8,079,041
6,073,236 20,175,593

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of changes in equity.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012

2011

RM

£

RM

£

10,836,061

2,201,484

9,070,492

1,851,163

86,606
26,420
18,575
(2,150)
(5,884,959)
(369,058)

17,675
5,392
3,805
(439)
(1,191,985)
(75,318)

61,267
26,421
18,849
(5,607)
(900,069)
(325,378)

12,504
5,392
3,805
(1,144)
(183,688)
(66,404)

(553,995)

(112,145)

(1,217,412)

(248,451)

848,469

6,728,563

Operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and
  equipment
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment
Finance costs
Reversal of provision for retirement benefits
Share of profit of associate after tax
Finance income
Gain arising on revaluation of
  biological assets
Operating cash flow before changes
  in working capital
Decrease/(Increase) in deferred
  nursery expenditure
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations
Retirement benefits paid
Tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

4,157,500

90,368
(73,833)
144,110
276,437

18,293
(14,946)
29,172
55,959

(98,311)
963
180,964
158,429

1,373,177

(20,063)
197
36,931
32,332

4,594,582

936,947

6,970,608

1,422,574

(12,666)
(1,636,250)

(2,585)
(333,929)

(2,161,598)

(441,142)

2,945,666

600,433

4,809,010

981,432

Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and
  equipment
Interest received

(660,246)
369,058

(133,652)
75,318

(143,549)
325,378

(29,295)
66,404

Net cash flow (used in)/from
  investing activities

(291,188)

(58,334)

181,829

37,109
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012
RM

2011
£

RM

£

Financing activities
Dividends paid on ordinary shares
Dividends paid on cumulative
  preference shares
Net cash flow used in financing
  activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes

(2,615,048)

(532,664)

(2,309,098)

(466,081)

(18,575)

(3,805)

(18,849)

(3,805)

(2,633,623)

(536,469)

(2,327,947)

(469,886)

2,662,892

548,655

20,855
-

5,630
(25,959)

-

(67,682)

Cash and cash equivalents at
  beginning of financial year

14,856,766

3,031,993

12,193,874

2,551,020

Cash and cash equivalents at end
  of financial year (Note 14)

14,877,621

3,011,664

14,856,766

3,031,993

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of cash flows.

43

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2012

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and Interpretations (collectively IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union (“adopted IFRSs”).
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the Entity management to exercise judgements and estimates have
been made in preparing the financial statements and their effects are disclosed in Note 1.13 to the financial
statements.
(i) Prior Period Errors
As disclosed in Note 1.6, the Company is unable to reliably determine the prior period value of the associates’
biological assets and investment properties for comparison as the prior period results of the associates
were not compliant with IFRS.
The Company has undertaken necessary steps to obtain prior year comparison information from the
associates to enable compliance with IFRS in the preparation of its financial statements for valuation of
biological assets and investment properties of the associate through written requests.  
The associate has replied that they are unable to provide professional valuations for the financial years
ended 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010 and are unable to accede to the Company’s requests to
provide relevant information and access to the properties.  The Company therefore deems it impractical to
restate the prior year figures of the value of the associate’s biological assets and investment properties.  
(a) New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2012
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments, are effective for the first time in these
financial statements but none have had a material effect on the financial statements:
•

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (Amendments to IAS 12)*

•

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (Amendments to IAS 1)

*

Not endorsed by the EU as at the date of approval of these financial statement.
None of the other new standards, interpretations and amendments effective for the first time from
1 January 2012, have had a material effect on the financial statements.
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Notes To The Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(i) Prior Period Errors (continued)
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards not yet effective
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published
that are mandatory for the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 or later
periods and which the Company has decided not to adopt early. These are:
•

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

•

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

•

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements*

•

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*

•

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

•

Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 7)*

•

Government Loans (Amendments to IFRS 1)*

•

Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2009 – 2011 Cycle)*

•

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Transition Guidance (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12)*

•

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)*

•

Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)*

•

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

*

Not endorsed by the EU as at the date of approval of these financial statement.

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the above standards and interpretations will have a
material impact on the Company’s financial statements, other than increasing disclosure, in the period
of initial adoption and subsequent periods.
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Notes To The Financial Statements (continued)
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.2 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation, which is the fair value at the date of revaluation,
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
The freehold estate land was revalued in 2012. These are revalued at regular intervals of at least once in every
five (5) years with additional valuations in the intervening years where market conditions indicate that the
carrying values of the revalued properties materially differ from the market values.
The surplus arising from such valuations, net of deferred tax, is credited to shareholders’ equity as a revaluation
reserve and any subsequent deficit is charged against the surplus until it reduces the carrying value to its
depreciated historic cost. In all other cases, the deficit will be charged to the income statement.
For a revaluation gain subsequent to a revaluation deficit of the same asset, the surplus should be recognised
as income to the extent that it reverses the deficit previously recognised as an expense with the balance of gain
credited to shareholders’ equity.
Upon disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the net carrying amount is recognised in the income statement and the revaluation reserve related to the
asset, if any, is transferred directly to retained earnings.
The freehold estate land is not depreciated. Depreciation on asset under construction does not commence until
they are complete and available for use. Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment are provided on
a straight line basis at rates calculated to write off their cost over the following estimated useful lives.
Buildings
Vehicles
Machinery
Fixtures, fittings and electrical installation
Furniture and equipment
Information technology equipment

5%
15% - 20%
10% - 20%
10%
10%
25%

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is
assessed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be
recoverable.  A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see Note 1.7 to the
financial statements on impairment of non-financial assets).
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting period to ensure that the
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.
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Notes To The Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.3 Leasehold land
In previous years the Company accounted for leasehold land under the cost model. The Company has changed
its accounting policy during the year to the revaluation model. This is a change in accounting policy which
has been accounted for prospectively in accordance with IAS 16. Leasehold land is initially recorded at cost
and subsequently at fair value.   The leasehold land is revalued at regular intervals of at least once in every
five (5) years with additional valuations in the intervening years where market conditions indicate that the
carrying values of the revalued properties materially differ from the market values. The leasehold estate land
was revalued in 2012.
The surplus arising from such valuations, net of deferred tax, is credited to shareholders’ equity as a revaluation
reserve and any subsequent deficit is charged against the surplus until it reduces the carrying value to its
depreciated historic cost. In all other cases, the deficit will be charged to the income statement.  
For a revaluation gain subsequent to a revaluation deficit of the same asset, the surplus is recognised as income
to the extent that it reverses the deficit previously recognised as an expense with the balance of the gain
credited to shareholders’ equity.
For one lease there is doubt over the continuation of the lease, which is at the option of the land authorities,
and the expired lease term is less than one year, on this basis it is classified as a prepaid lease payments and held
at amortised cost.
The lump-sum upfront payments made to acquire the interest in the leasehold land represent prepaid lease
payments and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease period of approximately one (1)
year.
1.4 Biological assets
Biological assets are stated at fair value less estimated point of sale costs. The movement in fair value of
biological assets is charged or credited to the income statement for the relevant period.  Measurement of fair
value of biological assets is explained as per Note 9 on Page 61.
1.5 New planting, replanting expenditure and deferred nursery expenditure
New planting expenditure incurred on land clearing and upkeep of trees to maturity is capitalised under
plantation development expenditure and is included within the Biological Asset and is not amortised.
Replanting expenditure is charged to the income statement in the financial year in which the expenditure is
incurred.
Deferred nursery expenditure is capitalised under plantation development expenditure at cost and charged to
the income statement on replanting of crops.
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Notes To The Financial Statements (continued)
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.6 Associate
An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence.  Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the associate but is not control or joint control of
those policies.
Investments in associate are accounted using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, on
initial recognition the investment in associate is carried in the statement of financial position at cost adjusted
for post-acquisition changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the associate. Where there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Company recognises its share of such changes. The
Company’s share of post-acquisition profits and losses is recognised in the income statement, except that losses
in excess of the Company’s investment in the associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to make
good those losses.
Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Company and its associate are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The Company’s share in the associate’s profits and
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill.
The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of
the investment.
Any excess of the Company’s share of net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.   Distributions
received from an associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment.
Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be necessary for a change in the Company’s proportionate interest
in the associate arising from changes in the associate’s other comprehensive income.  Such changes include
those arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment and from foreign exchange differences.  The
Company’s share of those changes is recognised in Company’s other comprehensive income.
The associate’s financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances.  If the associate uses accounting policies other than those of the Company for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Company when associate’s financial statements are used by the Company in
applying the equity method
Prior Year Errors
The Company identified through the financial results of the Associate for this year that it was not compliant with
IFRS and the Company’s policy in respect of the valuation of and accounting for biological assets and investment
properties in prior years.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.6 Associate (continued)
Prior Year Errors (continued)
For compliance to IFRSs on the valuation of investment properties and biological assets held by its Associate, the
Company endeavours to obtain all necessary information from the Associate.  The investment properties held by
the associate had not been accounted for at fair value, contrary to the Company’s policy.  Additionally, biological
assets of the associates had not been held at fair value and have not therefore been accounted for in accordance
with IAS 41. Under IAS 8 Errors, these should be dealt with retrospectively unless it is impracticable to do so
as explained under Note 1.1 Basis of Preparation. Following the identification of these errors the Company
has undertaken the necessary steps to enable compliance with IAS 8 but it has been deemed impracticable to
restate the prior year figures. This has resulted in substantial increases in the value of the investment properties
and biological assets in the year ended 31 December 2012 as discussed below.  
Biological assets are now separately accounted for at fair value. The revaluations have been applied prospectively
in the Associate’s financial statements and no adjustment has been made to the 31 December 2011 reported
results.
The following table summarises the impact at 33.33% recognised in the Company’s financial statements:
Income Statement

The Company’s 33.33%
  share of the impact

Share of
Fair
Value of
Biological
Asset
RM

Deferred
tax
recognised
RM

2,481,379

620,345

Statement of Financial
Position
Deferred
tax
recognised
for
Associate
Share of
Leasehold
Associates
land
Reserves
revaluation
RM
RM

2,581,577

240,180
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.6 Associate (continued)
Prior Year Errors (continued)
The Associate has applied the revaluations prospectively in the Associate’s financial statements and no
adjustment has been made to the 31 December 2011 reported results.
The following table summarised the adjustments made to the statement of financial position of the Associate
on implementation of their new accounting policy:

Full impact of as recorded in
  Associates’ financial statement

Biological
Asset
RM

Leasehold
Lands
RM

Asset
revaluation
reserves
RM

7,444,882

10,327,341

15,190,388

Deferred
tax liability
RM

  2,581,835

Investment properties are now accounted for at fair value. Fair value is determined from market-based evidence
by appraisal that is undertaken by professional qualified valuers. The fair value of an investment property is
an amount for which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction.  The revaluations have been applied prospectively in the Associate’s financial statements and no
adjustment has been made to the 31 December 2011 reported results. The following table summarises the
impact at 33.33% recognised in the Company’s financial statements
Statement of financial
position
Deferred
Investment
Tax
In Associate
recognised
RM
RM
The Company’s 33.33%
  share of the impact
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4,796,428

1,195,208

Income Statement
Share of
Deferred
Profit of
Tax
Associate
recognised
RM
RM

4,796,428

1,195,208

Notes To The Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets, other than biological assets, inventories and financial assets
(other than investment in associate), are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated
and an impairment loss is recognised whenever the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the
asset.
The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement immediately except for the impairment on a revalued
asset where the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation reserve account to the extent of
the surplus credited from the previous revaluation for the same asset with the excess of the impairment loss
charged to the income statement.
Reversals of an impairment loss are recognised as income immediately in the income statement if the original
impairment had been recognised there.  Reversal of an impairment loss previously recognised directly against
revaluation reserve is treated as a revaluation increase and credited to the revaluation reserve account of the
same asset.
An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
1.8 Investment properties
The Company’s investment properties are revalued annually to open market value, with changes in the carrying
value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
1.9 Inventories
Inventories comprise stores and consumables which are initially recognised at cost being the fair value at the
point of harvest, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.
Weighted average cost is used to determine the cost of ordinarily interchangeable items.
Fresh Fruit Bunches (FFB) are valued at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest. As the FFB are sold to
the mill within 24 hours of harvest, any fair value adjustment on FFB at the point of harvest will be immaterial.
The Company does not hold inventories of FFB.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.10

Retirement benefits
The Company has no pension plans other than its mandatory contribution to provident funds approved by
the Malaysian government (as stated in Note 1.17.2) and provision for lump sum payments of retirement
benefits to staff and workers upon their retirement. The provision for lump sum payments is based on the
collective agreements between the Malaysian Agricultural Producers Association (MAPA) and All Malaysia
Estate Staff Union (AMESU) and National Union of Plantation Workers (NUPW) respectively.  The Company’s
obligation is limited to the agreed terms.

1.11

Taxation

1.11.1 Current tax expense
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.
1.11.2 Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the
statement of financial position differs from its tax base.
Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the difference can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority
on either:
(i) the same taxable entity; or
(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of each reporting period. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity such as revaluations, in which case the deferred tax
is also dealt with in equity.
The Company has not recognised deferred tax in relation to surplus recognised on revaluation of freehold
land. The ultimate disposal of freehold land would not be subject to tax under current Malaysian Real
Property Gains Tax law for landed properties held for more than five (5) years.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.12

Foreign currencies

1.12.1 Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are measured in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the functional currency, being the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.  The financial statements
are presented in both RM and Pound Sterling for ease of reference by the majority of shareholders who
reside in the United Kingdom.   The statement of financial position is translated to Pound Sterling for
presentation purpose at an exchange rate of RM1 = 20.24p (2011: RM1 = 20.41p) whereas the income
statement is translated at an average exchange rate of RM1 = 20.41p (2011: RM1 = 20.41p).
1.12.2 Transactions during the financial year
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into Ringgit Malaysia at rates of exchange ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the end of each reporting period
are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at rates of exchange ruling at that date. All exchange rate differences
are taken to the income statement.
1.12.3 Translation into sterling at financial year end
The principal exchange rates for every unit of foreign currency ruling at the end of the reporting period used
is as follows:

Pound Sterling

2012
RM

2011
RM

4.94

4.90

The opening balances of reserves (excluding the exchange translation reserve and revaluation reserve) at
the reporting period are translated from Ringgit Malaysia into Pound Sterling at the rate of exchange at 31
December 2012 of RM1 = 20.24p (2011: RM1 = 20.41p). The Ringgit Malaysia equivalent of the share capital
has been translated at the equivalent of RM1 = 27.14p. Exchange differences on translation are dealt with
through the foreign exchange reserve.
1.13

Revenue
(i) Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of fresh fruit bunches (FFB) is recognised in the income statement when delivery has  
taken place and transfer of risks and rewards have been completed.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.13

Revenue (continued)
(ii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, taking into account the effective
yield on the asset.

1.14

Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported assets and liabilities and reported revenue and expenses. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revision to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future period affected.
There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those
disclosed in the following notes:
Note 9   – Valuation method of biological assets and freehold estate land and building
Note 11 – Recognition of share of fair value of associate
Note 16 – Recognition of deferred tax liabilities

1.15

Dividends
Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable.  In the case of interim dividends to
equity shareholders, this is recognised when paid.  In the case of final dividends, this is recognised when
approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting.

1.16

Earnings per share
The Company presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.  Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares including convertible notes and share options granted to employees, if any.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.17

Employee benefits

1.17.1 Short term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the income
statement in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the employees.
Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term
non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.
1.17.2 Defined contribution plan
The Company makes contributions to a statutory provident fund and recognises the contributions payable:
(i) after deducting contributions already paid as a liability; and
(ii) as an expense in the financial year in which employees render their services.
1.18

Cumulative preference shares
The cumulative preference shares are recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction
costs.
The cumulative preference shares are classified as non-current liabilities in the statement of financial
position and the preferential dividends are recognised as finance costs in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

1.19

Financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assets into one category. The Company has not classified any of its
financial assets as fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale and held to maturity. The Company’s
accounting policy for loans and receivables is as follows:
Loans and receivables:
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade
receivables), but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. Receivables are measured at
amortised cost less provision for any impairment.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.19

Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables: (continued)
Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant financial
difficulties on the part of the counterparty or default or significant delay in payment) that the Company will
be unable to collect all of the amounts due under the terms receivable, the amount of such a provision being
the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows
associated with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are
recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being recognised within administrative expenses in
the income statement. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying
value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.
The Company’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
in the statement of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

1.20

Financial liabilities
The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one category. The Company has not classified any of its
financial liabilities as fair value through profit or loss. The Company’s accounting policy for other financial
liabilities is as follows:
Other financial liabilities include the following items:
•

1.21

Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are measured at amortised cost.

Share capital
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they do not meet
the definition of a financial liability. The cumulative preference shares include a contractual obligation on
the Company to deliver cash in the form of the annual preference dividend and, in the absence of any other
terms that would indicate an equity element, have been classified wholly as a financial liability.
The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.
For the purposes of the disclosures given in Note 22 to the financial statements, the Company considers its
capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, accumulated retained earnings and its cumulative preference
shares which are classified as a financial liability in the statement of financial position. Neither the foreign
exchange reserve nor the revaluation reserve is considered as capital. There have been no changes in what
the Company considers to be capital since the previous financial year.
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2. REVENUE
Revenue represents amounts delivered in respect of the sale of fresh fruit bunches (FFB).  The analysis of revenue
by activity is as follows:2012

Fresh fruit bunches (FFB)

2011

RM

£

RM

£

7,819,763

1,595,870

9,675,947

1,974,683

3. FINANCE INCOME
2012
RM
Interest income from short term deposits

2011
£

369,058

75,318

RM

£

325,378

66,404

4. FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs represent dividends on cumulative preference shares as follows:
2012

Interim: Single tier 20%
  (2011: 20% single tier)

2011

RM

£

RM

£

18,575

3,805

18,849

3,805

5. STAFF COSTS
The number of employees (including directors) employed by the Company as at end of the financial year were as
follows:2012
No.

2011
No.

Management
Administration
Field workers

6
3
32

6
2
40

Total number of employees

41

48
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5. STAFF COSTS
The breakdown of the aggregate staff costs is as follows:2012
RM

2011
£

RM

£

Wages and salaries
Contributions to a defined contribution plan
Social security costs

916,033
35,297
3,951

186,946
7,203
806

916,387
36,184
4,031

187,018
7,384
823

Total staff cost before retirement benefits
Retirement benefits

955,281
(2,150)

194,955
(439)

956,602
(5,607)

195,225
(1,144)

953,131

194,516

950,995

194,081

Directors’ and key management personnel remuneration
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Company. In addition to the remuneration of the Executive Director disclosed on
page 30, the remuneration of key management personnel during the financial year comprised the remuneration of
the Manager as follows:
2012
RM
Salary and bonus
Contributions to defined
  contribution plan

2011
£

RM

£

152,000

31,020

63,300

12,918

9,964

2,033

3,816

779

161,964

33,053

67,116

13,697

The information required by the UK Companies Act 2006 and the listing rules of the Financial Services Authority in
connection with directors’ remuneration is contained in the Directors’ Report on Remuneration, pages 29 to 32, of
which the information on pages 32 and 33 has been audited.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
2012

2011

RM

£

RM

£

26,420

5,392

26,421

5,392

106,450
177,840

21,582
36,000

102,470
176,400

20,912
36,000

86,606
162,774
955,281

17,675
33,219
194,955

61,267
2,453
313,735
956,602

12,504
501
64,028
195,225

25,082

5,119

71,132

14,517

2,150

439

5,607

1,144

Profit before tax is arrived at
  after charging:  Amortisation of prepaid
    lease payments (Note 10)
  Auditors’ remuneration
    audit services
  Directors’ remuneration - fees
  Depreciation on property,
    plant and equipment (Note 9)
  Loss on foreign exchange
  Windfall tax levy
  Total staff costs (Note 5)

  and crediting:    Gain on foreign exchange
    Reversal of provision for
      retirement benefits

7. TAX EXPENSE
2012
RM
Malaysian income tax:
- current financial year
- (over)/under provision in prior years
Deferred tax for the financial year (Note 16)
- current financial year
- under/(over) provision in prior years

2011
£

1,129,279
(9,394)

230,465
(1,917)

140,893
6,176

28,754
1,260

1,266,954

258,562

RM

£

1,801,423
1,793

367,637
366

308,517
(7,691)
2,104,042

62,963
(1,570)
429,396

The tax residence of the Company is in Malaysia.
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7. TAX EXPENSE (continued)
A reconciliation of the Malaysian income tax rate to the effective tax rate of the Company is as follows:% of Profit
Before Taxation
2012
2011
Malaysian income tax rate
Increase/(Decrease) resulting from:
  Non allowable expenses
  Non taxable income
  Crystallisation of deferred tax liabilities
    on revaluation reserves

25.0

25.0

0.6
(13.7)

0.9
(2.5)

(0.1)

(0.1)

Over provision in prior years

11.8
(0.1)

23.3
(0.1)

Effective tax rate

11.7

23.2

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2012 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding calculated as follows:
2012

Profit for the financial year attributable to
  owners of the parent

£

RM

£

9,569,107

1,942,922

6,966,450

1,421,767

2012

2011

Weighted average number of ordinary shares of 10p each
Basic and diluted earnings per share (sen)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (pence)
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2011

RM

13,316,590

13,316,590

71.36 sen

52.31 sen

14.59 pence

10.68 pence
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9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2012

LAND AND
BUILDINGS
Freehold
residential
land,
Freehold buildings
estate and estate
land
building
£
£

Vehicles,
machinery
Asset
Biological and field
under
assets equipment construction
£
£
£

Total
£

Total
RM

At Cost or Valuation
At 1 January 2012
Additions
Revaluations
Exchange differences
At 31 December 2012

2,954,078
7,653,243
(23,920)

68,584 3,219,974
81,320
- 112,145
(556) (26,073)

140,451
7,945
(1,137)

44,387
-

6,383,087 31,277,124
133,652
660,246
7,765,388 38,361,015
(51,686)
-

10,583,401

149,348 3,306,046

147,259

44,387 14,230,441 70,298,385

10,583,401

149,348
- 3,306,046

147,259
-

44,387
340,994 1,684,515
- 13,889,447 68,613,870

10,583,401

149,348 3,306,046

147,259

44,387 14,230,441 70,298,385

Representing items at:
Cost
Valuation

Accumulated
  Depreciation
At 1 January 2012
Charge for the
  financial year
Exchange differences

-

At 31 December 2012

-

-

46,425
4,367
(412)
50,380

-

89,224

-

-

13,308
(830)

-

-

101,702

-

135,649
17,675
(1,242)
152,082

664,681
86,606
751,287
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9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
LAND AND
BUILDINGS
Freehold
residential
land,
buildings
Freehold
and estate
estate land
building
£
£

Biological
assets
£

At 1 January 2011
Additions
Revaluation
Exchange differences

3,028,238
(74,160)

70,065
234
(1,715)

3,046,122
248,451
(74,599)

114,186
29,061

At 31 December 2011

2,954,078

68,584

3,219,974

2,954,078

68,584
-

2,954,078

At 1 January 2011
Charge for the financial
  year
Exchange differences
At 31 December 2011

2011

Vehicles,
machinery
and field
equipment
£

Total
£

Total
RM

At Cost or Valuation
6,258,611
29,295
248,451
(153,270)

29,916,163
143,549
1,217,412
-

140,451

6,383,087

31,277,124

3,219,974

140,451
-

209,035
6,174,052

1,024,269
30,252,855

68,584

3,219,974

140,451

6,383,087

31,277,124

-

45,394

-

80,843

126,237

603,414

-

2,143
(1,112)

-

10,361
(1,980)

-

46,425

-

89,224

(2,796)

Representing items at:
Cost
Valuation

Accumulated
  depreciation
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61,267
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9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

2012

LAND AND
BUILDINGS
Freehold
residential
land,
Freehold buildings
estate and estate
land
building
£
£

Vehicles,
machinery
Asset
Biological and field
under
assets equipment construction
£
£
£

Total
£

Total
RM

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2012

10,583,401

98,968 3,306,046

45,557

44,387 14,078,359 69,547,098

At 31 December 2011

2,954,078

22,159 3,219,974

51,227

-

6,247,438 30,612,443

At 31 December 2010

3,028,238

24,671 3,046,122

33,343

-

6,132,374 29,312,749

Had the revalued assets been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, the carrying amount would have been
included in the financial statements of the Company as follows:
£

RM

Freehold estate land, including biological assets
- cost and carrying amount
At 31 December 2012

740,065

3,655,920

At 31 December 2011

746,106

3,655,920

At 31 December 2010

764,837

3,655,920
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9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Valuations were carried out by independent valuers, Messrs Asiapacific Appraisal Sdn. Bhd., Chartered Surveyors,
in accordance with the appraisal and valuation manual of The Members’ Institution of Surveyors, Malaysia on the
Company’s properties and biological assets.
Freehold Estate and Freehold Residential and Building
The Company’s properties were revalued as follows:The freehold estate and the freehold residential land and building were revalued in November 2012 using the
Comparison Method. Recent transactions and asking prices of similar properties in the locality were analysed for
comparison purposes, adjusted for differences in characteristics to arrive at the market value.
Biological Asset

As At 1 January 2012
Gain arising on revaluation of biological assets

RM

£

15,777,875
553,995

3,219,974
112,145

-

(26,073)

16,331,870

3,306,046

Currency translation difference
At 31 December

Biological assets comprise oil palm and are stated at fair value less estimated point of sale costs as at 31 December
2012.  The fair value is calculated as the present value of the estate’s operating cash flows over the next ten (10)
years, based on Directors’ best estimates of future selling prices of fresh fruit bunches which is derived from the
average 10 years CPO selling price, palm kernel price, oil extraction rate and palm kernel extraction rate.  
The major assumptions underlying the calculation were an assumed average CPO selling price of RM2,250/MT
(2011: RM2,200/MT), an average yield of 21.47/Ha (2011: 24.09/Ha) and an average discount rate of 11.38% (2011:
10.56%) based on the Company’s Return on Capital Employed.
Matured and Immatured oil palm fields are measured with the same underlying assumptions as shown above.
Analysis of biological assets
Planted Area (Hectares)
Matured
Immatured
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2012

2011

447
108

542
13
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9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Biological Assets (continued)
Analysis of biological assets (continued)
Value of Planted Area (RM)
Matured
Immatured

Value of Planted Area (£)
Matured
Immatured

2012

2011

13,153,776
3,178,094

15,408,303
369,572

16,331,870

15,777,875

2012

2011

2,662,707
643,339

3,144,551
75,423

3,306,046

3,219,974

Sensitivity analysis for price risk
At 31 December 2012, if the CPO selling price had been 5% lower or higher with all other variables held constant,
the gain arising on revaluation of biological assets would have been RM1,440,635 higher or lower, arising mainly as
a result of the variation in CPO price. If the average discount rate had been 5% higher, the gain arising on revaluation
of biological assets would have been RM325,705 lower. If the average discount rate had been 5% lower, the gain
arising on revaluation of biological assets would have been RM336,962 higher.

10. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
2012

Prepaid lease payments
RM
£

Cost/Valuation
At 1 January 2012
Exchange difference

200,000
-

40,816
(330)

At 31 December 2012

200,000

40,486
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10. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (continued)
2012

Prepaid lease payments
RM
£

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2012
Charge for the year
Exchange difference

155,966
26,420
-

31,830
5,392
(302)

At 31 December 2012

182,386

36,920

2011

Prepaid lease payments
RM
£

Cost/Valuation
At 1 January 2011
Exchange difference

200,000
-

41,841
(1,025)

At 31 December 2011

200,000

40,816

At 1 January 2011
Charge for the year
Exchange difference

129,545
26,421
-

27,101
5,392
(663)

At 31 December 2011

155,966

31,830

Accumulated amortisation

Prepaid lease payments
RM
£
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2012

17,614

3,566

At 31 December 2011

44,034

8,986

The prepaid lease payments are due for renewal on 6 September 2013, and requires payment of renewal premium,
the quantum of which is subject to the confirmation from the land office.
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11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
2012
RM

2011
RM

118,301
19,205,418

118,301
10,776,192

19,323,719

10,894,493

2012
£

2011
£

Investment in associate (unquoted)
At cost
Share of reserves of associate

Investment in associate (Unquoted)
At cost
At 1 January
Exchange differences

At 31 December
Share of reserves of associate
Exchange differences

24,143
(195)

24,749
(606)

23,948
3,906,242
(18,506)

24,143
2,249,024
(49,801)

3,911,684

2,223,366

The Company holds 33⅓% (2011: 33⅓%) of the issued ordinary share capital of Rivaknar Holdings Sdn. Bhd., a
company incorporated in Malaysia, whose principal activity is an investment holding company.  The reporting period
of its associate, Rivaknar Holdings Sdn. Bhd situated at 33 (1st Floor) Jalan Dato’ Maharajalela, 30000 Ipoh, Perak,
Malaysia is 31 December and has issued ordinary share capital of 355,200 shares of RM1 each.  
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11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Aggregated amounts relating to the associate are as follows:2012

2011

RM

£

RM

£

Non-current assets
Current assets

68,626,150
7,754,128

13,891,933
1,569,662

33,698,840
7,587,968

6,877,314
1,548,565

Total assets

76,380,278

15,461,595

41,286,808

8,425,879

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

10,370,013
6,183,663

2,099,193
1,251,754

8,598,568
9,414

1,754,810
1,921

Total liabilities

16,553,676

3,350,947

8,607,982

1,756,731

4,884,059

996,747

5,230,306

1,067,409

Profit before tax

16,383,053

3,343,480

3,550,237

724,538

Tax expense

(4,310,072)

Profit after tax

12,072,981

Revenue

(879,607)
2,463,873

(849,759)
2,700,478

(173,420)
551,118

12. DEFERRED NURSERY EXPENDITURE
2012
At cost
At 1 January
Additions for the year
Charge to income statement
Exchange differences
At 31 December
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RM
98,311
128,653
(219,021)
7,943

2011
£

RM

£

20,063
26,256
(44,336)
(375)

98,311
-

20,063
-

1,608

98,311

20,063

Notes To The Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2012
RM
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Deposits
Prepayments

2011
£

RM

£

240,480
23,893
5,690
19,286

48,680
4,837
1,152
3,904

385,775
26,592
5,424
15,668

78,729
5,427
1,107
3,198

289,349

58,573

433,459

88,461

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximate to their fair values.

14. NOTES SUPPORTING THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash and cash equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows comprises:
2012

Cash and bank balances
Short-term deposits

2011

RM

£

RM

£

764,619
14,113,002

154,781
2,856,883

531,699
14,325,067

108,510
2,923,483

14,877,621

3,011,664

14,856,766

3,031,993

15. PROVISION FOR RETIREMENT BENEFITS
2012
RM
At 1 January
Exchange differences
Payments made
Reversal of provision for the financial year
At 31 December

2011
£

RM

£

25,156
(12,666)
(2,150)

5,134
(17)
(2,585)
(439)

30,763
(5,607)

6,436
(158)
(1,144)

10,340

2,093

25,156

5,134

Kindly refer to Note 1.10 for further information.
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16. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
2012
RM
At 1 January
Deferred tax arising from excess of capital
  allowance over corresponding depreciation
Biological asset
Crystallisation of deferred tax arising from
  revaluation surplus

Under/(Over)provision in prior years
Recognised in income statement (Note 7)

£

RM

£

3,980,538

812,355

3,679,712

769,814

10,244
138,499

2,091
28,265

12,015
304,353

2,452
62,113

(7,850)

(1,602)

140,893

28,754

6,176

1,260

147,069

30,014

Exchange differences
At 31 December

2011

4,127,607

(7,851)
308,517
(7,691)
300,826

(6,821)
835,548

3,980,538

(1,602)
62,963
(1,570)
61,393
(18,852)
812,355

The components of deferred tax as at the end of the financial year comprise the tax effect of:
2012
RM

2011
£

RM

£

Deferred tax

Excess of capital allowances over
  corresponding depreciation
Biological asset
Other temporary differences
Crystallisation of deferred tax arising from
  revaluation surplus
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41,990
4,082,968
(2,585)

8,500
826,512
(523)

32,552
3,941,191
(6,289)

6,643
804,325
(1,283)

5,234

1,059

13,084

2,670

4,127,607

835,548

3,980,538

812,355
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17. CUMULATIVE PREFERENCES SHARES
2012
RM

2011
£

RM

£

Authorised:
20% cumulative preference shares
  of 10p each

84,163

19,024

84,163

19,024

Issued and fully paid up:
20% cumulative preference  shares
  of 10p each

84,163

19,024

84,163

19,024

The cumulative preference shares have the following rights attached to them:
(a) The right to a fixed cumulative preference dividend of 20% per annum.
(b) Entitle to the following in preference to holders of ordinary shares when the Company is wound up:(i) repayment of the capital paid up on such shares;
(ii) a premium of 10 pence per share; and
(iii) a sum equivalent to all arrears and accruals of the said fixed preferential dividend but not entitle to any
further right to participate in the profit or assets of the Company.
(c) Have the right to vote in each of the following circumstances:(i) When the dividend or part of the dividend on the shares is in arrears for more than 6 months;
(ii) On a proposal to reduce the Company’s share capital;
(iii) On a proposal to wind up the Company; and
(iv) On a proposal that effect rights attached to the share.

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2012
RM
Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals

2011
£

RM

£

388,528
57,973
443,426

78,649
11,736
89,762

24,694
69,156
519,640

5,040
14,113
106,049

889,927

180,147

613,490

125,202

The carrying amount of trade and other payable approximates to their fair values.
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19. SHARE CAPITAL
2012

2011

RM

£

RM

£

Authorised:
14,809,763 ordinary shares
  of 10p each

5,926,562

1,480,976

5,926,562

1,480,976

Issued and fully paid up:
13,316,590 ordinary shares
  of 10p each

4,891,969

1,331,659

4,891,969

1,331,659

20. RESERVES
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity:
Reserve

Description and purpose

Revaluation

Gains and losses arising on the revaluation of the estate.

Foreign exchange

Gains and losses arising on translating the Company’s financial statements from Ringgit
Malaysia to Pound Sterling.

Retained earnings

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the income statement less distributions
made.

Capital

Share of exchange fluctuation reserve and available-for-sale investment reserve of an
associate.

General

Share of profit on sale of estate land and mining lease of associate.
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21. DIVIDENDS ON EQUITY SHARES
2012
RM

2011
£

RM

£

Dividends on equity shares:
Ordinary dividends:
Interim: 1.5 pence single tier
(2011: 1.0 pence single tier)

989,757

199,749

659,837

133,166

2nd Interim: 1.5 pence single tier
(2011: 1.0 pence single tier)

975,175

199,749

659,704

133,166

Special: 1.0 pence single tier
(2011: 1.5 pence single tier)

650,116

133,166

989,557

199,749

2,615,048

532,664

2,309,098

466,081

The directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the current financial year.

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In common with all other businesses, the Company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments.
This note describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods
used to measure them.
There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives,
policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless
otherwise stated in this note.
Principal financial instruments
The principal financial instruments used by the Company, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Cumulative preference shares
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15,147,684

-

Non-current financial
Liability
Cumulative preference shares

Total

-

270,063
14,877,621

RM

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables, net of
  prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

3,066,333

-

-

54,669
3,011,664

15,274,557

-

-

417,791
14,856,766

£

3,117,256

-

-

85,263
3,031,993

Loans and receivables
2012
2011
£
RM

974,090

84,163

889,927

-

199,171

19,024

180,147

-

697,653

84,163

613,490

-

-

144,226

19,024

125,202

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
2012
2011
RM
£
RM
£

All financial assets are designated as loans and receivables and all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, as shown in the table below:
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value
There is no material difference between the book values and fair values of the Company’s financial assets and
liabilities as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 due to their short term maturity.
General objectives, policies and procedures
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk management objectives and
policies. The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly
affecting the Company’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below:
Interest rate risk
The Company’s only exposure to interest rate fluctuation is short term placements with financial institutions that
attract interest income.  However, the fluctuation in interest rates, if any, is not expected to have a material impact
on the financial performance of the Company.  The effective interest rate of deposits at the end of the reporting
period was 2.5% per annum (2011: 2.3% per annum).
The interest profile of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows:2012

2011

RM

£

RM

£

14,113,002

2,856,883

14,325,067

2,923,483

Floating rate
Cash and bank balances

764,619

154,781

531,699

108,510

Interest free
Trade and other receivables

270,063

54,669

417,791

85,263

84,163

19,024

84,163

19,024

889,927

180,147

613,490

125,202

Financial assets
Fixed rate
Short term deposits

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate
Cumulative preference shares
Interest free
Trade and other payables
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk arises principally from the Company’s trade receivable.
The Company has only one customer and is on credit terms. To mitigate the credit risk arising, the Company requires
the customer to place advances, representing a certain percentage of the total sales to the customer. This customer
has a maximum credit limit and the Company seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk.  Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the management.
As such, the maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparty fails to perform its obligation as at
the end of the financial year in relation to trade receivables is the carrying amount of trade receivables as stated in
the statement of financial position as at the end of the financial year.
In respect of the short term deposits and cash and bank balances placed with major financial institutions in Malaysia,
Singapore and United Kingdom, the Directors believe that the possibility of non-performance by these financial
institutions is remote on the basis of their financial strength.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the Company’s management of working capital. It is the risk that the Company will
encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Company’s policy in respect of liquidity is to ensure sufficient cash resources are maintained to meet short-term
liabilities. The Company’s liquidity risk is minimal as it maintains adequate funds to meet its obligations as and when
they fall due.  The Company trade with only a single buyer, however, liquidity risk is immaterial as payment for FFB is
made in advance with 30% paid on deliveries made for the 1st 10 days of the month by the 15th day of each month
and a second advance of 30% paid on deliveries for 1st 20 days of the month by the 25th day of the month with the
balance settled by the 10th of the following month.
The Company is financed through equity and cumulative preference shares.
The only significant financial asset the Company has is cash at bank. Cash is held either on current or on short term
deposits at both fixed and floating rates of interest determined by the relevant banks’ prevailing base rate. Part of
the cash at bank is held in Pound Sterling accounts.
Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk as a result of the foreign currency transactions entered into in currencies
other than Ringgit Malaysia.   The Company’s policy is to limit its exposure to currency risk by settlement of its
foreign currency transactions denominated in Pound Sterling by using the funds from its bank accounts maintained
in Pound Sterling.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
The table below shows the Company’s currency exposures that give rise to the net currency gains and losses
recognised in the income statement.  Such exposures comprise the financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Company that are not denominated in the functional currency of the Company.
As at 31 December 2012, these exposures were as follows:
Foreign currency financial assets
RM
Pound Sterling

£

2,825,392

571,636

The above foreign currency exposures arise from the Company’s cash maintained in Pound Sterling bank accounts.
Capital
As described in Note 1.21 to the financial statements, the Company considers its capital to comprise its ordinary
share capital, accumulated retained earnings and its cumulative preference shares which are classified as a financial
liability in the statement of financial position.
In managing its capital, the Company’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent
return for its equity shareholders through a combination of capital growth and distributions and through the
payment of annual preference dividends to its preference shareholders. In order to achieve this objective, the
Company seeks to balance risks and returns at an acceptable level and also to maintain a sufficient funding base to
enable the Company to meet its working capital and strategic investment needs. In making decisions to adjust its
capital structure to achieve these aims, the Company considers not only its short-term position but also its longterm operational and strategic objectives.
There have been no other significant changes to the Company’s capital management objectives, policies and
processes in the year nor has there been any change in what the Company considers to be its capital.
The total amount of capital is as follows:
2012

Ordinary share capital
Retained earnings
Cumulative preference Shares

2011

RM

£

RM

£

4,891,969
29,252,505
84,163

1,331,659
5,921,561
19,024

4,891,969
23,047,719
84,163

1,331,659
4,703,616
19,024

34,228,637

7,272,244

28,023,851

6,054,299
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A company
with
significant
influence over
the Company

Major
Shareholder of
the Company

Preference
Shareholder

Riverview Rubber
Estates Berhad

Riverview Rubber
Estates Berhad

Riverview Rubber
Estates Berhad

Party

Related party
relationship

Preference
Dividends

Ordinary
Dividends

Interest-free
advances
received

Type of
transaction

18,264

1,302,426

99,231

RM

127,296

3,741

18,533

265,293 1,150,047

20,251

3,741

232,132

25,979

Transaction amount
2012
2011
£
RM
£
RM

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Amount owing (to)/by
2012
2011
£
RM
£

-

-

-

Details of Directors remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 30 and Notes 5 and 21 to the financial statements. Other related
party transactions are as follows:

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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24. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company operates in the agricultural segment in Malaysia. All its fresh fruit bunches are sold in Malaysia to a
single customer. Since the Company operates in a single business and geographic segment, no segmental analysis
has been presented.
Financial information is presented to management in accordance with the measurement principles of IFRS. There
are no adjustments or eliminations made in preparing the Company’s financial statements from the reportable
segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities.
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PLANTATION STATISTICS (Unaudited Information)

                        FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
                                         31 DEC
OIL PALM

2012

Average area in production (hectares)
Crop (tonnes FFB)
Yield per hectare (tonnes FFB)
Average price realised (RM per tonne FFB)
Operating profit per mature hectare (RM)

2011

2010

2009

2008

491
13,030
27
600
9,053

542
13,974
26
692
12,218

544
12,279
23
578
7,170

555
12,835
23
439
5,876

555
13,625
25
598
7,800

447
108

542
13

544
11

555
-

555
-

Total planted hectarage
Estate building sites
Reserve land and swamps

555
4
5

555
4
5

555
4
5

555
4
5

555
4
5

Total area (hectares)

564

564

564

564

564

AREA STATEMENT AT 31 DECEMBER
Oil palm

- mature
- immature

The Company’s estate is located in the State of Perak Darul Ridzuan, Malaysia.
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i

DIRECTORS’ VISIT

ii

REPLANTING PROCESS

TRENCHING

FELLING

CHIPPING

iii

REPLANTING PROCESS

BURYING

CLEARED FIELD AFTER TRENCHING, FELLING, CHIPPING AND BURYING

iv

DEVELOPMENT AT NARBOROUGH ESTATE

NEW CRUSHER RUN ROAD

WATER CATCHMENT

REPLANTING IN PROGRESS

FIELD 2012 BEFORE PLANTING OF PALMS

REPLANTED FIELD 2012

v

NARBOROUGH OIL PALM FIELD 2012

vi
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Annual Report
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